6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Circuit Court Judge Edgar W. Dickson

Case 2014-CP-18-1349

Appellate Case No. 2019-001255

Wendy Reed,

v.

County of Dorchester and Thomas Limehouse,

Appellant,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BLOODGOOD & SANDERS, LLC
Nancy Bloodgood, SC Bar No.: 6459
242 Mathis Ferry Road, Suite 201
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
Telephone: (843) 972-0313
Email: nbloodgood@bloodgoodsanders.com

Attorneys for the Appellant

RECEIVED
FEB 07 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in holding Appellant had to prove that she was a grantee of the record owner after Respondent had refused to allow her to redeem her property because her name did not appear on a Deed or Probate Court Devise and Descent Form?
2. Did the Circuit Court err when it failed to find pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) that Appellant was authorized to redeem her property because she was the defaulting taxpayer?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed a Complaint on July 11, 2014 alleging multiple causes of action against Respondent Dorchester County arising from a tax sale of property located in Summerville, South Carolina. (hereafter "subject property.") (R. pp. 52-64.) Respondent Limehouse is named as a party as he was the purchaser of the subject property at the tax sale. (*Id.*) Respondents Dorchester County and Thomas Limehouse filed answers on September 22, 2014 and August 13, 2014, respectively. (R. pp. 65-83.) Appellant filed an Amended Complaint on January 6, 2015 (R. pp. 84-95) and Respondents Dorchester County and Thomas Limehouse filed answers to the Amended Complaint on January 28, 2015 and February 8, 2015, respectively. (R. pp. 96-113.) Respondent Dorchester County filed a Motion to Dismiss and the Court issued an Amended Order Denying that Motion on March 10, 2015. (R. pp. 4-6.) The case was transferred by consent to the Non-Jury Roster on January 4, 2016. (R. p. 7.) The parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment and filed Memoranda in support of their motions. (R. pp. 114-266.)

On May 5, 2017, Judge Dickson denied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied in part and granted in part Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 8-13.) Respondent Dorchester County filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment on May 17, 2017 (R. p. 267) which Plaintiff responded to on May 22, 2017. (R. pp. 273-276.) Judge Dickson

denied Respondent's Motion to Alter or Amend by Order dated June 5, 2017 and filed June 14, 2017. (R. p. 14.) This case was tried on March 9, 2018 and Judge Dickson signed and filed a Final Order on July 2, 2019. (R. pp. 15-27.) This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts determine questions of law de novo. Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 109, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law." Electro Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter, Inc., 357 S.C. 363, 367, 593 S.E.2d 170, 172 (Ct. App. 2004). A trial judge's findings of fact will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Genealogy

Appellant is the daughter of John L. Gregg. (R. p. 280.) Appellant's father, John L. Gregg, was a son of the late Walter L. Gregg, Sr. and Lucille B. Gregg. (R. pp. 336-340.) Lucille B. Gregg, Appellant's grandmother, inherited the subject property as sole heir of her mother, Elizabeth Perry, in 1983. (R. pp. 280-281, 336-340.) Lucille B. Gregg was the person whose name appears as owner on a 1983 Devise and Descent Form regarding the subject property. (R. pp. 336-340.)

Lucille B. Gregg died intestate 1983 shortly after her mother Elizabeth Perry, leaving the subject property to her husband Walter L. Gregg, Sr. and her ten (10) children, one of whom was

John L. Gregg, Appellant's father. (R. pp. 280, 336-340.) Appellant's father, John L. Gregg, died in 2004 and his estate was never probated. (R. pp. 297-298.)

Grantee of the Owner of Record

Bonita Daniels was the employee of Respondent who first told Appellant she could not redeem the subject property because her name was not on a deed. (R. pp. 281-282, 308.) Ms. Daniels had worked in Respondent's Delinquent Tax Office for more than 14 years and she knew who Appellant was. (R. pp. 305-306.) When Appellant tried to redeem her property, Ms. Daniels testified it was her understanding that only a person whose name was on the deed could redeem property. (R. p. 308.) Ms. Daniels read Appellant the names on a Devise and Descent Probate Court Form and told only her that one of those people could redeem the subject property because "If their names aren't on that list, they're not allowed to redeem the property." (R. pp. 295, 310, 312.) Ms. Daniels had a file for each delinquent property that contained a limited title search. (R. pp. 320-321.) Ms. Daniels told Appellant that Appellant needed to have her great grandmother's or grandmother's estate probated but when Appellant went to the Probate Court Office, Appellant was told it was too late to probate those estates. (R. pp. 283-285.)

Ms. Daniels did not recall discussing the heirs of the subject property with Appellant. (R. p. 311.) No one at Respondent's Delinquent Tax Office explained to Appellant why her name had to be on a deed or why she had to probate an estate. (R. p. 287.) No one at Respondent's Delinquent Tax Office ever asked to see Appellant's driver's license, birth certificate, or what her mother or father's names were, or for copies of their death certificates. (R. pp. 286-287, 289, 298.) Respondent's County Attorney John Frampton testified that individuals named on the Deed or Devise and Descent Form could redeem property. (R. pp. 330-331, 333.) He had previously emailed this same opinion to Appellant's attorney. (R. pp. 336-341.)

Defaulting Taxpayer

Appellant has lived all of her life at 817 West Richardson Avenue in Summerville, South Carolina (hereafter referred to as "subject property".) (R. p. 280.) Appellant paid taxes on the subject property in cash in person for at least eight (8) years. (R. p. 281.) Appellant did not pay the property taxes in 2011 so the property was sold at a delinquent tax sale in December 2012 to Respondent Thomas Limehouse. (R. pp. 289-290.) Appellant called and went to Respondent's Delinquent Tax Office after the tax sale to redeem her property. (R. p. 285.) Appellant had cash to redeem the property but she was told she could not redeem her property because her name was not on the deed or the Devise and Descent Form. (R. pp. 286, 313.) The Delinquent Tax Collector during the time Appellant was trying to redeem the subject property was Suzanna Davis. Ms. Davis testified that her office considered the last person whose name was on a deed or a probate form to be the defaulting tax payer, in this case Elizabeth Perry, Appellant's great grandmother. (R. p. 325.) The current Delinquent Tax Collector also testified that Appellant was not the defaulting taxpayer because her name was not on a deed, and even though Elizabeth Perry had been dead since 1983, he identified Elizabeth Perry as the defaulting taxpayer in 2011 because her name was on a deed in a probate form regarding the subject property. (R. pp. 323-324.)

ARGUMENT

- 1. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in holding Appellant failed to prove she was a grantee of an owner of record.**

The Circuit Court erred in holding it was Appellant's responsibility to find a person named on the Devise and Descent to agree to redeem her property. (R. p. 22.) There is no such requirement in the law. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) permits "any grantee of the owner" to redeem property sold at a tax sale within twelve (12) months of the sale. The statute states:

The defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor may within twelve months from the date of the delinquent tax sale redeem each item of real estate by paying to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, together with interest as provided in subsection (B) of this section.
S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) (emphasis added.)

Heirs' property is property belonging to those persons designated by law to succeed to real property ownership in case of intestacy. Heirs' property owners are "grantees from the owner" so they must be permitted by S.C. Code § 12-51-90 (A) to law to redeem their property.¹ In fact, Respondent's County Attorney testified that if Appellant's father's name was on the Devise and Descent Form and he had died intestate, Appellant, as his daughter, would be his heir. (R. pp. 331-332.)

a. The Circuit Court misapplied S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A).

Respondent's position, as repeatedly communicated to Appellant, was that if Appellant's name was not on a deed, or a Will or a Devise and Descent Form, she could not redeem her property. Lucille B. Gregg died intestate later that same year, leaving her goods and estate to her husband (1/3) and to her ten (10) children. (Def. Ex.3, Devise and Descent Form) Therefore, Respondent's Probate Court records clearly indicate that after 1983, the owners of record for the subject property included Appellant's father, John L. Gregg as he was listed as one of Lucille B. Gregg's ten (10) children. John L. Gregg was an owner of record in 1983 (and in 2011), not

¹ Tenancy in common is a form of concurrent ownership. Tenants in common each own a separate fractional share in undivided property. "Tenants in common may each unilaterally alienate their shares through sale or gift or place encumbrances upon these shares. They also have the ... right to use the property, to exclude from third parties from it, and to receive a portion of any income produced from it." United States v. Craft, 535 U.S. 274, 279-280 (2002) (internal citations omitted.) Possession of one tenant in common is the possession of all. See, e.g., Watson v. Little, 224 S.C. 359, 368, 79 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1953). Therefore, one tenant in common possesses property on behalf of all the tenants.

Elizabeth Perry.² As a grantee of an owner of record, Appellant was authorized by law to redeem this property.

b. The facts show Respondent never asked Appellant for proof that she was a grantee of an owner of record.

The Circuit Court erred in finding in Paragraph 10 of its Order that the Delinquent Tax Collector requested Plaintiff show she had an ownership interest in the property. (R. p. 25.) That is not a fact supported by the record. Rather, the Record indicates that when Appellant tried to redeem her property, she was told that if her name was not on a Deed, Will, or a Devise and Descent Form that she could not redeem her property. (R. pp. 282, 286, 308.) The Circuit Court erred by failing to acknowledge that unnamed heirs have an ownership in property.

The Court also erred in holding Appellant was responsible for proving her status as a grantee of an owner when the facts and evidence show Respondent would not have recognized such status, even if she had. (R. pp. 19-20) Appellant testified no one in the Delinquent Tax Office asked her who her parents or grandparents were or asked her for a driver's license or birth certificate. In fact, Bonita Daniels already knew who Appellant was as Ms. Daniels had worked in the Delinquent Tax Office for 14 years; Appellant had gone to that Office before to pay her taxes; Ms. Daniels identified Ms. Reed in the courtroom; Ms. Daniels was the person who had posted Appellant's property; and Ms. Daniels recalled talking to Appellant. (R. pp. 281, 285, 290-291, 305-306.)

When Appellant went to the Probate Court Office and responded to the question as to what year her grandmother died, she was only told it was too late to probate her grandmother's

² The Circuit Court erred in finding in Paragraph 2 of its Final Order that in 2011 the sole owner of record of Appellant's property was Elizabeth Perry as her daughter Lucille B. Gregg's estate had been administered and ownership transferred to Lucille B. Gregg's husband and ten (10) children in 1983. (R. p. 16.)

estate. (R. p. 283.) No one told her to probate her father's estate and no one asked her if she was related to Elizabeth Perry or Lucille B. Gregg; rather, she was directed outside of the County to a non-profit called the Center for Heirs Property Preservation. (R. p. 284.)

The fact that at a lower court hearing Appellant was asked by the Court to provide a long copy of her birth certificate is irrelevant as Appellant was never asked by Respondent for this information during the redemption period. There is no evidence in the record indicating Respondent would have allowed Appellant to redeem her property if she had proved she was related to a named devisee.

c. The Circuit Court's holding was not harmless error as Appellant could easily have proven she was a grantee of an owner of record.

The Circuit Court's holding was not harmless error as Appellant could easily have proven she was a grantee of an owner of record as she did when subsequently asked by a court to obtain and provide a long copy of her birth certificate. (R. pp. 4-6.) Respondent's County Attorney testified he agreed that if Appellant's father's name was on the Devise and Descent Form and her father had died intestate, Appellant, as his daughter, would be his heir. (R. pp. 331-332.)

2. The Circuit erred as a matter of law when it failed to hold Appellant was the defaulting taxpayer as that term is used in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) not only allows "any grantee from the owner" to redeem property it also allows a "defaulting taxpayer" to redeem property. ("The defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor may within twelve months from the date of the delinquent tax sale redeem..." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) (emphasis added).)

Chapter 49 of the South Carolina Code is the alternate remedy for the enforcement and collection of delinquent taxes but it contains no definition of the term "taxpayer." However, S.C.

Code Ann. § 12-55-30 (B) states that the definitions in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-30 apply to the State's "Overdue Tax Debt Collection Act." Therefore, deference should be given to the definition of a taxpayer found in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-30 (29) which defines a "taxpayer" as a person "who is responsible for collecting and remitting a tax." Therefore, it follows that a defaulting taxpayer is the person responsible for collecting and remitting the tax who failed to remit the tax. The Circuit Court erred by not addressing Respondent's mistake of relying on a statute in Chapter 37 of Title 12, which Chapter addresses the assessment of taxes, instead of requiring Respondent to rely on the statutes in Chapters 49 and 51 which address the collection of taxes.

a. As the defaulting taxpayer, Appellant was authorized to redeem her property.

Any person responsible for remitting a tax to the Treasurer's Office or the Delinquent Tax Office is a "taxpayer," including an heirs' property owner whose interest in the property is as tenant in common. It is undisputed Appellant was the taxpayer and also that she failed to pay the taxes in 2011.³ As the defaulting taxpayer, Appellant was authorized by to redeem her property during the twelve months following a tax sale. In fact, the Circuit Court found that "It was Plaintiff that failed to pay taxes..." (R. p. 25, Par. O.) The Circuit Court erred by failing to acknowledge Appellant, as the defaulting tax payer, was eligible to redeem the subject property and, instead erroneously accepted Respondent's position that the term defaulting taxpayer relates to the person whose name appears on a deed. This was an error of law.

b. The Circuit Court misapplied S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 to the facts in this case.

³ Appellant testified she paid the taxes on the subject property for eight years but failed to pay the 2011 taxes, so she is the defaulting taxpayer. Respondent produced no witnesses or evidence to rebut Appellant's testimony that she was the person responsible for paying the taxes on the subject property.

Respondent's County Attorney testified that the basis for his opinion that Elizabeth Perry (Appellant's great grandmother who had died in 1983) was the defaulting taxpayer was based on S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610. (Trans., p. 76.) S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 which states:

Each person is liable to pay taxes and assessments on the real property that, as of December 31st of the year preceding the tax year he owns in fee, for life, or as a trustee, as recorded in the public records for deeds of the county in which the property is located or on the real property he has care of as guardian, executor, or committee or may have the care of as guardian, executor, trustee, or committee. (emphasis added.)

First, the Court should take judicial notice that someone who has been deceased since 1983 is not a "person" intended by the Legislature to be liable for taxes under this statute. Deceased persons do not "own" property, whether their name remains on a deed or not.

Second, a deceased person cannot "care for property" as this statute presumes. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 is intended to identify who among the living are responsible for taxes each year, not to be used to define the term "defaulting tax payer." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-30 (29) provides better authority for the definition of "defaulting taxpayer," especially as this statute is referenced in the Chapters of the Code pertaining to the collection of taxes.

The Circuit Court's failure to correct Respondent's misapplication of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 to the facts of this case results in the identification of a deceased person as the defaulting taxpayer in 2011 solely because her name appears on a deed regarding the subject property. (R. pp. 323-324.) However, not only did Elizabeth Perry stop having the opportunity to be a taxpayer, much less a defaulting taxpayer, at her death in 1983, but S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 does not contain the word "defaulting" and it is error to read that word into a statute pertaining to the assessment of taxes. There is no evidence indicating the Legislature intended "defaulting taxpayer" to include deceased persons or that the term is limited to persons' whose

names appear on County records. The Circuit Court erred in finding Respondents were entitled to rely on S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-610 to define the term “defaulting taxpayer.”

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court erred in holding that Appellant had the responsibility of proving she was a grantee of an owner of record when she was never asked to do so by Respondent. Appellant was never asked by Respondent to provide such proof because Respondent’s position at the time was Appellant’s name had to be on a deed or Devise and Descent Form- not that she be a grantee of a person whose name was on a deed or Devise and Descent Form. In other words, the fact that Appellant was a grantee of an owner of record was not considered sufficient by Respondent, even though that is what S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) permits. Had Appellant been asked to prove John L. Gregg was her father, she could have, and she did so when asked, but she was never asked by Respondent to do so and never asked by anyone until after the redemption period had ended.

The Circuit Court also erred by not holding Appellant was the defaulting taxpayer. S.C. Code § 12-37-610 addresses assessment of taxes, not collection of taxes and does not contain the term “defaulting.” does not state that dead people can be defaulting taxpayers or that only persons whose names are on a deed are defaulting taxpayers. As the Circuit Court misinterpreted both S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) and S.C. Code Ann. §12-37-610, Appellant respectfully requests she be permitted to redeem her property; that the tax sale to Respondent Thomas Limehouse be voided; and Appellant be awarded attorney fees and costs awarded per S.C. Code Ann. § 57-15-300 as she has prevailed against the County.