THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

May 06 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-001255

Wendy Reed..... Appellant,

v.

County of Dorchester and Thomas Limehouse Respondents.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT COUNTY OF DORCHESTER

Jonathan J. Anderson
SC Bar # 383
Anderson Reynolds & Stephens, LLC
37 ½ Broad Street
P.O. Box 87
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 723-0185 –phone

*Attorney for Respondent, County of
Dorchester*

May 6, 2020

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

A determination on Appellant's status occurred prior to the trial. At trial the Court held that Appellant revealed her identity in relation to the property and the owner of record thirteen months after the period of redemption had expired and too late to allow the redemption (R. p.23, ¶H, p. 24, ¶'s J & L, p. 25, ¶'s N & P).

Brief Overview of the Facts.

Appellant challenges the delinquent tax sale of the property complaining that Respondent Dorchester should have accepted Appellant's payment without proof of Appellant's eligibility under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90 (A) to redeem. Appellant has lived at the property for more than forty years; the taxes for 2011 were delinquent. Respondent Dorchester County followed the requirements and procedures of S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 in providing all the requisite notices of the delinquency and for the sale of the property. (R. p. 86, ¶'s 21, 22, and 23). The property was sold on December 3, 2012 to Respondent Limehouse. (R. pp. 342-346 and p. 297, lines 15-17). Respondent Dorchester gave proper notice of the sale and redemption of the property. (R. p. 86, ¶'s 21, 22, and 23). As mandated by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A), the redemption period ran from December 3, 2012 through December 4, 2013.(R. pp. 342-346). Appellant made one substantive attempt to redeem the property during the redemption period. (R. p. 286, lines 9-10 and p. 299, lines 3-5). The offered payment could not be accepted by Respondent Dorchester as Appellant did not appear in Dorchester County's records as either "the defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor" as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A). Prior to the running of the redemption period, Respondent Dorchester advised Appellant that she was not eligible to redeem the property, provided Appellant with the names of persons eligible to redeem the property, and advised Appellant to consult with the Probate Court. (R. pp. 17, ¶10, p. 286, lines 1-3, p. 299, lines 6-19, p. 310, lines 3-18, p. 312, lines 7-23, and p.

314 lines 7-19). The Probate Court provided Appellant with a packet of forms and advised her to go to the Center for Heirs Property Preservation. (R. p. 284, lines 10-17). Appellant consulted with the Center for Heirs Property Preservation and obtained the services an attorney. (R. p. 283, line 25-p. 284, line 6, p. 302, line 22-p. 303, line 6). Prior to the expiration of the redemption period the Dorchester County Attorney advised Appellant’s attorney that Respondent Dorchester did not know the relationship of Appellant to the property or any of the individuals on the attached Devise/Descent form who were eligible to redeem. Despite this, at no time during the redemption period did Appellant provide information to Respondent Dorchester that Appellant was a member of one of the four classes of persons eligible to redeem the property. (R. p. 330, lines 3-14 and pp. 340-341).

Not until January 2015, after being ordered by the Court to provide the required information did Appellant produce the required documentation identifying Appellant as an individual eligible to redeem the property. (R. pp. 4-6 and p. 20, ¶21) Respondent Dorchester received the required information thirteen months after the termination of the redemption period and twenty-five months after the sale of the property. On October 29, 2014, Respondent Dorchester issued to the successful bidder title to the property pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-130. (R. pp. 342-346)

Application of the Law to the Facts.

“The sale of the property of a defaulting taxpayer is governed by statute. *Osborne v. Vallentine*, 196 S.C. 90, 12 S.E.2d 856 (1941); *Von Elbrecht v. Jacobs*, 286 S.C. 240, 332 S.E.2d 568 (Ct. App. 1985).” *Durham v. United Cos. Fin. Corp.*, 331 S.C. 600, 603, 503 S.E.2d 465, 467 (1998). S.C. Code Ann. §12-51 *et seq.* contains the requirements for the redemption of property sold at a delinquent tax sale that must be followed by Respondent Dorchester; particular attention

must be paid to the status of the person attempting to redeem real property from a delinquent tax sale as there are specific requirements enumerated in S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A). (R. p. 316, line 20-p. 317, line 4, p. 331, lines 3-8 and pp. 4-6).

The statute states:

The defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor may **within twelve months from the date of the delinquent tax sale** redeem each item of real estate by paying to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, together with interest as provided in subsection (B) of this section. If prior to the expiration of the redemption period, the purchaser assigns his interest in any real property purchased at a delinquent tax sale, the grantee from the successful bidder shall furnish the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes a conveyance, witnessed and notarized. The person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall replace the successful bidder's name and address with the grantee's name and address in the delinquent tax sale book. (emphasis added)

S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A).

Appellant admits in both her complaint and amended complaint that the taxes for 2011 were unpaid, delinquent and that Respondent Dorchester followed the requirements and procedures of S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 in providing all the requisite notices for the sale and redemption of the property on which Appellant lived. (R. p. 86, ¶'s 21, 22, and 23).

The failure to pay the property taxes in 2011 resulted in the sale of the property pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 on December 3, 2012. The sale of the property triggered the beginning of the 12-month period in which the property could be redeemed (hereinafter

“redemption period”). The redemption period ran from December 3, 2012 to December 4, 2013. (R. p. 16, ¶5 and pp. 342-346).

Appellant followed up on the notices received concerning the redemption of the property by contacting the Delinquent Tax Collector for Respondent Dorchester County (hereinafter “DTC”) by telephone and by appearing at the DTC on Friday at closing time, then returning Monday to meet with Bonita Daniels at the DTC. (R. p. 285, line 11-p. 286, line 10).

On direct examination the Appellant described meeting with DTC and the meeting with Bonita Daniels as follows:

Q: When Ms. Daniel or anybody in the delinquent tax office sent you to probate, did they know that you were the person paying the taxes?

A: I guess. I’m not sure.

Q: Did you tell Ms. Daniel that - - . . . - - Ms. Daniel came to your property and approached the property; correct?

A: Yes, she did

Q: So how many times total did you talk to delinquent tax collector’s office about redeeming your property?

A: Three

Q: Tell me about each of those times. Tell me about the first time.

A: Okay. The first time, it was over the telephone. I had called in and asked them how much it was, and they told me how much it was, I went to pay it, and I couldn’t pay it because they were about to close.

Q: The office was –

A: . . . when I did get there and they were closed, I knocked on the window, and they told me . . . to come back Monday.

And when I went back that Monday and I got in the office, then they told me that they couldn't take my money because I had to have the - - had to probate it.

Q: Have what probated?

A: The land probated because my name wasn't on the deed.

Q: And did you also talk - - did you talk to them more than once on the phone?

A: No

Q: Did you - - and you went to the office how many times?

A: Once

(R. p. 285, lines 4-25 and p. 286, lines 1-10).

During the meeting with Bonita Daniels, Appellant offered payment to redeem the property. Bonita Daniel requested Appellant show she had an ownership interest in the property as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A). As Appellant did not provide any information about ownership or her relation to the property, the DTC could not accept payment from the Appellant. (R. p. 17, ¶10, p. 286, lines 13-18, p. 298, lines 11-15, p. 310, lines 3-18, p. 312, lines 7-23, and p. 314, lines 7-19). Bonita Daniels advised Appellant to seek assistance from the Probate Court in establishing Appellant's eligibility to redeem the property. In a further effort to assist the Appellant in establishing her eligibility to redeem the property, Bonita Daniels provided Appellant with the names of those individuals in the County records that were eligible to redeem the property. Appellant left the office of the DTC and made no further attempt to redeem her property on her own. (R. p. 18, ¶13, p. 295, lines 11-16, p. 304, lines 3-7, and p. 312, lines 7-23)

Following the advice of Bonita Daniels, Appellant went to the Probate Court but only provided them with the year of Appellant's great grandmother's and grandmother's deaths. Appellant did not provide the names of her great grandmother, grandmother, or father. Appellant testified that the Probate Court told Appellant, ". . . the only way that I could have it probated is she gave me a whole stack of papers, and I didn't understand the papers, and so she gave a card and – no she gave a card and it was to sign up for the heir's property." (R. p. 284, lines 13-17). The Probate Court provided Appellant with a packet of forms and advised her to go to the Center for Heirs Property Preservation. Appellant went to the Center for Heirs Property Preservation which referred her to Appellant's current attorney. These events occurred in March of 2013. (R. p. 283, line 25-p. 284, line 17, p. 302, line 22-p 304).

On October 8, 2013, in response to a letter from Plaintiff's attorney and in a further effort to assist Plaintiff to establish her eligibility to redeem the property, John Frampton, Dorchester County Attorney, e-mailed Plaintiff's attorney a copy of the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description form for the property. The e-mail communication to Plaintiff's attorney was copied to DTC. The e-mail stated:

"I do not know the relationship of your client, Wendy Reed, to any of the devisees but as far as the County is concerned any of the named devisees listed on the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description form would be eligible to redeem the properties. Give me a call if you would like to discuss this further."

No response was received to this offer of assistance. (R. p. 330, lines 3-14 and pp. 340-341).

With the information from the title search, notices advising of the approach of the end of the redemption period were sent to all known individuals who had a right to redeem the property in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120. (R. p. 321, lines 3-6) The information concerning

the end of the redemption period was also published in the local paper. (R. p. 302, lines 6-14 and p. 86, ¶'s 21, 22, and 23) Before the end of the redemption period, as the result of one of the publications, Leon C. Gregg (who is listed on the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description Form) approached Appellant to inquire into the sale and redemption of the property. Leon C. Gregg was eligible to redeem the property and asked Appellant to provide him with information; Appellant never provided the requested information. (R. p. 300, lines 8-p. 301, line 20).

DTC obtained the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description Form from the title search of a separate piece of property owned by Lucille B. Gregg that was sold for delinquent taxes. Lucille Gregg died in an automobile accident and her estate was probated in 1984, but it appears no deeds were issued for the separate pieces of property in the estate. The DTC office discovered within the inventory of real estate a reference to the property and added the devise/descent form of Lucille Gregg's estate to the Elizabeth Perry file. The title search of the property only revealed Elizabeth Perry as the owner of record since no deed of distribution was recorded. (R. p. 21, ¶23 and p. 289, lines 14-17).

The estate of Lucille B. Gregg was probated in 1984 and the properties were devised to Walter Sr. (with a 1/3 interest), Leon C. Gregg, Walter L. Gregg, Jr., James A. Gregg, Orin S. Gregg, John L. Gregg, Kenneth Gregg, Angie E. Gregg, Cornelius Gregg, Annette Gregg, and Jeannette Gregg (each receiving a 1/15 interest). Elizabeth Perry was the mother of Lucille B. Gregg. Lucille B. Gregg received the property as an intestate heir of Elizabeth Perry upon Elizabeth's death in 1983. Elizabeth Perry remains the owner of record in the Dorchester County Registry of Deeds as no deed of distribution has ever been recorded. Each person on the list would have been allowed by Respondent Dorchester to redeem the property. No estate for John Gregg has ever been filed in the Dorchester County Probate Court, nor has anyone filed a Petition for

Determination of Heirs for John Gregg in the Dorchester County Probate Court. The above listed devisees (with the exception of John Gregg and Walter Gregg, Sr.) are still alive and live in Dorchester or Berkeley County, SC excepting one who lives in Gaffney, SC. (R. pp. 21-22, ¶s 24 and 25, p. 300, lines 1-5, p. 330, lines 3-12, and p. 340). *See Halsey v. Simmons*, 837 S.E.2d 919, 926 (S.C. Ct. App. 2019) (“However, in the ten years since Appellants presumably inherited their ownership interest, they took no steps to record or document their interest. Appellants failed to probate the estate before the commencement of tax sale proceedings, or to request a letter of ownership from the Tax Assessor's Office. Had Appellants taken either of these steps, the record may have been adequate to assert true ownership interest.)

Despite the offers of assistance and requests for information as to whom Appellant was related that had an ownership interest in the property, Appellant failed to provide the information that was exclusively within Appellant’s control to Respondent Dorchester within the redemption period. The statutes governing the redemption of real property sold for delinquent taxes places no burden on Respondent Dorchester to provide proof of an individual’s eligibility to redeem property as an heir of the defaulting taxpayer pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A). (R. p. 317, lines 22-24). The inability to know the relationship of the Appellant to any owner of record or any one of the individuals that appeared on the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description Form made it impossible for Respondent Dorchester to allow Appellant to redeem the property and still fulfill Respondent Dorchester’s statutory duty to only allow “[t]he defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor. . .” to redeem the property. *See Dixon v. Hockady*, 36 S.C. 60, 15 SE 342 (1892) in which the South Carolina Supreme Court stated in part:

“Hockady offered in evidence his deed from the sinking fund commission, which recites that the land was “forfeited” in the name of M. A. Dixon; and as he was not, as we have

held, within the class of persons allowed to “redeem,” it would seem to follow that the deed to him in his own right was absolutely without authority. . . . Speaking of the officer appointed by law to make the sale (or deed of redemption) the supreme court of the United States (*Early v. Doe*, 16 How. 610) say: “The officer can do nothing of himself, and must do all as he is directed by the law.” See *Cooke v. Pennington*, 15 S. C. 185. We think that upon the payment of the taxes the title revested in Mrs. Dixon.”

Dixon v. Hockady, 36 S.C. 60, 64, 15 SE 342 (1892).

Further attention was brought to this issue by a request for opinion from the Attorney General of South Carolina by the Tax Collector for Sumter County regarding whether a friend of a defaulting taxpayer may redeem the property of the defaulting taxpayer that has been sold for nonpayment of ad valorem taxes. After an analysis of the statute and the *Dixon v. Hockady* case, the Attorney General stated:

It is therefore the opinion of this office that only the owner, any grantee from the owner or any mortgage or judgment creditor has the statutory right to redeem the property and that you would have no authority to authorize the redemption by the friend of the defaulting taxpayer.

1969-70 Op Atty Gen. No. 2870, p. 107.

It is clear from the SC Supreme Court’s opinion and the opinion of the Attorney General that the Respondent/Dorchester had no authority to do what the Appellant asked and was required to do “all as he is directed by the law.” *Dixon v. Hockady*, supra at 344. See *Halsey v. Simmons*, 837 S.E.2d 919, 926-27 (S.C. Ct. App. 2019) (. . .our courts have consistently found that it is “unreasonable to require tax officers to unravel complicated inheritances.” See, e.g., *Koth v. Pallachucola Club*, 79 S.C. 514, 517-18, 61 S.E. 77, 78 (1908).)

The information required to determine Appellant's eligibility to redeem the property was even absent from the Complaint filed on July 11, 2014. (R. pp. 52-64). Respondent Dorchester moved to dismiss for lack of standing. The Court through the order of The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, which was filed on December 30, 2014 and amended on March 10, 2015³ stated:

“2. The status of the person attempting to redeem real property from a delinquent tax sale is a specific requirement of §12-51-90(A) S.C. Code Ann. for the redemption of the real property, the Plaintiff must provide the County evidence that the Plaintiff is a member of a qualifying class (“defaulting taxpayer or any grantee from the owner, or any mortgagee or judgment creditor”) within 60 days of this Order.” (R. pp. 4-6 and p. 20 ¶21)

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